STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

09-04-2014

RECEIVED

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2014AP001362 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN BEAL.

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF A DENIAL OF A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED ON JUNE 3. 2014 BY HON. LINDSEY GRADY, AND A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON JUNE 29, 2013, BY HON. MARY TRIGGIANO PRESIDING. BOTH IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

John A. Pray State Bar No. 01019121

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Beal was charged and tried for committing an Aggravated Battery against his girlfriend. Although Beal's attorney did not expect Beal to testify because he made a poor witness, he told the jury that Beal would testify as to his version of events. However, Beal did not testify.

Issue: Was Beal's attorney ineffective in wrongly telling the jury that Beal would testify at trial?

The trial court ruled that Beal's attorney was not ineffective.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Beal welcomes oral argument to clarify any questions the court may have. Publication may be warranted as there are no published Wisconsin cases deciding whether an attorney is ineffective in wrongly promising the jury that his client will testify when there has not been a change in circumstances.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 9, 2013, John Beal was arrested for the alleged battery of his longtime girlfriend, Antwonette Henderson. (36:88). The State subsequently charged Beal with Aggravated Battery (Substantial Risk of Great Bodily Harm, with the Use of a Dangerous Weapon and Domestic Abuse Assessment, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 940.19(6), 939.50(3)(h), 939.63(1)(b), 968.075(1)(a). (2:1).

The charge was tried before a Milwaukee County jury on March 5-7, 2013. The opening statement of the prosecutor summarized the State's case that was then presented to the jury. According to this version, Beal and Henderson had resided together in Iowa and Arkansas, but then moved to Milwaukee about three months before the incident in this case. (35:13). According to Henderson, on March 9, 2013, at 3:00 p.m., Beal was looking through their computer and found evidence that Henderson was not faithful to him, and she heard him say "I'm going to kill that bitch." (35:13).

Several hours later, Beal and Henderson left their residence on foot and headed to a store. (35:13). Beal saw a squad car, and assumed that Henderson had called the police on him (35:14).

Under the State's version, Beal then grabbed Henderson's scarf and punched her head several times. He also produced a knife and stabbed her twice to the back of her head and the left side of her temple. (35:13). Beal then covered her mouth to muffle her, and in doing so, knocked out two of her front teeth. (35::14). Henderson bit Beal's hand, causing bite marks. (35:14). A metal object—allegedly the tip of a knife—was found in a CT scan of Henderson's head (35:12-13).

Following the State's opening statement, Beal's attorney told the jurors there was an entirely different version of what happened. He repeatedly told the jury that Beal would testify on his own behalf. Beal's testimony would be that as Beal and Henderson were walking in the alley, Henderson—"out of nowhere"—became upset, and pulled a knife on him. (35:16-17). Trial counsel further told the jury that Beal would testify that he struggled with Henderson over the knife to avoid being stabbed by her, and during the course of the altercation, Henderson was injured by the knife. (35:16).

Contrary to trial counsel's opening statement, Beal did not testify. (36:101-02). The defense rested without calling any witnesses. (36:111). In his closing argument, Beal's attorney told the jury that Beal had no obligation to testify because "the presumption of innocence rests with him." (37:20). He referenced his earlier opening statement regarding Beal testifying, but this time, he told the jury that "I told you in opening that Mr. Beal *may* testify and what he *might* testify to." (37:21) (emphasis added).

The jury found Beal guilty of the charge submitted, Battery with Substantial Risk of Great Bodily Harm While Using a Dangerous Weapon. (37:43) (Judgment of Conviction attached as Appendix A).

Beal subsequently filed a postconviction motion. (23) (Attached as Appendix B). His motion claimed that his attorney was ineffective in making, and then breaking his promise to the jury that Beal would testify. (23:1-10).²

Following briefing by the parties, the circuit court³ denied the postconviction motion without conducting a hearing. (27) (Decision Attached as Appendix C). According to the court, the postconviction motion was "factually insufficient," citing the State's argument that Beal had failed to set forth what Beal's intentions were regarding testifying, and whether he had communicated that to counsel. (27:3). The court also held that the motion was insufficient because it did not state what Beal's testimony would have been had he testified at trial. (27:3). Finally, the court found that even if the motion was factually sufficient, and that counsel's performance was deficient, Beal was not prejudiced because "he cannot show that there is a reasonable probability the

¹ Beal's postconviction motion is attached as an appendix because the circuit court questioned the sufficiency of the motion when ruling on the motion.

² Beal raised a second claim in the postconviction motion alleging that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to interview a witness—Ebony Anderson—and then failing to call her as a witness at trial. (23:10-13). The trial court also denied that issue in its decision on the postconviction motion (27:4). Beal is not raising that issue in this appeal.

³ Although the trial was presided over by Hon. Mary Triggiano, the case was subsequently assigned to the court of Hon. Lindsey Grady, who ruled on the postconviction motion.

outcome of the trial would have been any different because he is not claiming that his own testimony would have made a difference." (27:3-4).

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact. *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 21, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. This court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact, including the circumstances of the case and the counsel's conduct and strategy, unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Whether trial counsel's performance constitutes constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel, which requires a showing by the defendant that counsel performed deficiently and that the error or errors prejudiced the defendant, presents a question of law that this court decides de novo. *Id.*

The proper standard of review for a trial court's decision to deny a postconviction motion without first holding an evidentiary hearing is whether the defendant alleged sufficient facts, which, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 309, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996) (quoting *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497-98, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972). The movant is required to set forth specific material facts, beyond mere conclusory allegations, which allow a reviewing court to meaningfully assess the movant's claim. *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 40, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334; *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 23, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433.

In the context of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, this burden requires the movant to allege these material facts under the two prong framework set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). *Allen*, 2004 WI 106 at ¶ 23; *Balliette*, 2011 WI 79 at ¶ 20. The alleged facts must be specifically and discretely identified (*e.g.* who, what, where, when, how) and the movant must articulate how or why those facts, if true, would satisfy the requirements of an ineffective assistance claim and entitle the movant to relief. *Allen*, 2004 WI 106 at ¶ 23. Where the movant has satisfied this burden, the circuit court has no discretion and must hold an evidentiary hearing. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 310. It is a question of law as to whether a defendant has satisfied this burden, and as such the issue is reviewed *de novo*. *Id*.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying, without a hearing, Beal's claim that trial counsel was ineffective in making and then breaking his promise to the jury that Beal would testify.

A. The postconviction motion alleged sufficient facts.

In its decision denying the postconviction motion, the circuit court wrote:

[T]he court finds the defendant's motion factually insufficient as well because it assumes there was another version of events to which the defendant would have testified to. However, the defendant has not made any claim that he would have testified, given any inkling as to what his testimony would have been, or shown that his testimony would have altered the course of the trial.

(27:3) (Appendix C).

The court's ruling fundamentally misses the point of

Beal's postconviction motion. The motion does not complain that Beal's rights were violated by not being allowed to testify, or that counsel was ineffective in his advice regarding testifying. Rather, Beal asserts that counsel was ineffective in promising to the jury that Beal would testify when he did not know that he would testify, or believed that he would not testify.

Therefore, there is no obligation for Beal to allege in his postconviction motion that he would have testified absent counsel's promise, or what he would have testified to.⁴

Beal did allege in his motion that when counsel made his opening statement to the jury, he did not expect that Beal would testify. (23:5). Had the court conducted an evidentiary hearing, Beal could have presented testimony from trial counsel that would have established this point. But by alleging this in his motion, Beal set forth sufficient facts to obtain a hearing on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

B. Counsel was deficient.

Except for Beal and the complainant (Henderson), there were no witnesses to the altercation that occurred on March 9, 2013. Therefore, what started and ended the altercation, and what happened during it could only come from the testimony of the two principles—Henderson and Beal.

During the State's opening statement, the prosecutor offered the jury the State's version of what occurred. (35:12-15). This version painted the picture of an unprovoked attack on Henderson by Beal.

⁴ Beal's postconviction motion is attached as Appendix B.

Beal's attorney could have postponed making an opening statement until the State's case had concluded. *See State v. Moeck*, 2005 WI 57, ¶ 67, 280 Wis. 2d 277, 695 N.W.2d 783. Or he could have told the jury that Beal might or might not testify, and that he was under no obligation to do so.

However, Beal's attorney did neither. Instead, without qualification, he repeatedly told the jury that his client would take the witness stand and testify to a different version of events than offered by the State. His description of Beal's expected testimony was detailed, as he told the jury:

It will be Mr. Beal's testimony, there was a knife but it was Miss Henderson who had the knife not he. And Miss Henderson, when Mr. Beal puts his arm around her, was upset—angry, pulled the knife and the altercation occurred in the alley between 26th and 27th Street.

And that during the course of that altercation, Miss Henderson had a knife. The parties struggled. Mr. Beal attempted to keep Mr. Beal [sic--Miss Henderson] from stabbing him with a knife. The parties fell to the ground. They struggled on the ground. And during the course of that altercation, Miss Henderson struck Mr. Beal. Mr. Beal struck Miss Henderson. They struggled over the knife. And apparently, during the course of the altercation, Miss Henderson was cut—cut or stabbed or injured by the knife; that Mr. Beal had his hand bit or if not bit, aberrated by Miss Henderson's mouth. He will testify that as he was being struck, he struck Miss Henderson. Struck her in the mouth. Mr. Beal will testify that this altercation came out of nowhere. He wasn't anticipating this. And there was no discussion about the police being called or the police being seen nearby.

(35:16-17) (emphasis added) (Attached as Appendix D).

Concluding his opening statement, Atty. Rosenthal repeated that Beal would testify, telling the jury that "You'll hear the testimony of both parties." (35:17).

Despite counsel's promise that Beal would testify, he did not. The defense rested without calling a single witness. (36:111).

Standing alone, this would not necessarily mean that trial counsel was ineffective, or that any of Beal's rights were violated. After all, a defendant might tell his attorney that he definitely will testify, but then later change his mind.

But that is not what happened here. In his postconviction motion, Beal alleged that his trial attorney told postconviction counsel that he "never intended on having Mr. Beal testify" because he believed that Beal made a "poor witness." (23:5). The motion also alleged that "nothing unforeseeable occurred during trial that would justify counsel's change in tactics." (23:9).

The problem in this case is not that Beal failed to testify. Instead, the problem is that trial counsel was ineffective when he promised the jury that Beal would testify—even though he believed that Beal would *not* testify. Since Beal did not testify, the jury was left to ponder why he did not, and as stated by numerous courts, it is likely that this left the jury with a negative view of both Beal and his attorney.

There are few Wisconsin cases that address the dangers of counsel wrongly telling the jury during opening that the defendant will testify. However, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has recognized that an attorney's opening statement can be problematic, and can diminish the credibility

of the party who made the unfulfilled promise. In *Moeck*, 2005 WI 57 at ¶¶ 46-49, the defendant's counsel told the jury what he expected Moeck to testify about during trial, but then Moeck did not testify. The circuit court granted the State's motion for a mistrial on the theory that Moeck had, in effect, been allowed to testify without being subject to cross-examination. *Id.* at ¶¶ 53-60. The Court held that a curative instruction would have been sufficient to avoid prejudice to the State's case, based largely on its belief that "any prejudice to the State by defense counsel's opening statement would be outweighed by defense counsel's loss of credibility with the jury for his unsubstantiated opening statement." *Id.* at ¶ 78.

The dangers of breaking a promise to the jury that the defense will introduce particular evidence has been examined more extensively by courts from other jurisdictions. For example, in *McAleese v. Mazurkiewicz*, 1 F.3d 159, 166 (3d Cir. 1993), the defendant's attorney promised the jury an alibi defense in his opening statement, but then did not deliver on that promise. The Third Circuit stated that:

The rationale for holding such a failure to produce promised evidence ineffective is that when counsel primes the jury to hear a different version of the events from what he ultimately presents, one may infer that reasonable jurors would think the witnesses to which counsel referred in his opening statement were unwilling or unable to deliver the testimony he promised.

Id. at 166-67.

Similarly, in *Saesee v. McDonald*, 725 F.3d 1045, 1049-50 (9th Cir. 2013), the 9th Circuit explained:

A juror's impression is fragile. It is shaped by his confidence in counsel's integrity. When counsel promises a witness will testify, the juror expects to hear

the testimony. If the promised witness never takes the stand, the juror is left to wonder why. The juror will naturally speculate why the witness backed out, and whether the absence of that witness leaves a gaping hole in the defense theory. Having waited vigilantly for the promised testimony, counting on it to verify the defense theory, the juror may resolve his confusion through negative inferences. In addition to doubting the defense theory, the juror may also doubt the credibility of By failing to present promised testimony, counsel has broken "a pact between counsel and jury," in which the juror promises to keep an open mind in return for the counsel's submission of proof. When counsel breaks that pact, he breaks also the jury's trust in the client. Thus, in some cases—particularly cases where the promised witness was key to the defense theory of the case and where the witness's absence goes unexplained—a counsel's broken promise to produce the witness may result in prejudice to the defendant.

Id. at 1049-50 (internal citations omitted);

The dangers may be even more pronounced when defense counsel promises the jury that his client will testify and give his version of the alleged crime. For example, in *Ouber v. Guarino*, 293 F.3d 19, 22 (1st Cir. 2002), defense counsel promised the jury during opening statements that Ouber would testify as to her version of an alleged drug buy. However, the defense rested without calling a witness. *Id.* at 23. The First Circuit stated that

When a jury is promised that it will hear the defendant's story from the defendant's own lips, and the defendant then reneges, common sense suggests that the course of trial may be profoundly altered. A broken promise of this magnitude taints both the lawyer who vouchsafed it and the client on whose behalf it was made.

Id. at 28. *See also United States ex rel. Hampton v. Leibach*, 347 F.3d 219, 259 (7th Cir. 2003) ("The damage can be particularly acute when it is the defendant himself whose testimony fails to materialize.").

Naturally, there are times when counsel is certain that the defendant will testify, but the defendant then changes his mind and decides to not testify. In such situations, counsel cannot be faulted for simply following the directives of the defendant. *See State v. Krancki*, 2014 WI App 80, ____ Wis. 2d ____, ___ N.W.2d ____ (petition for review pending).⁵

But that is not what happened in Beal's case. As stated in the postconviction motion, "nothing unforeseeable occurred during trial that would justify counsel's change in tactics." (23:5).

When counsel is unsure whether a defendant will testify, there is simply no reason to take the risk of telling the jury otherwise. As the court in *Ouber* explained:

The Commonwealth argues that a defendant's decision about whether to invoke the right to remain silent is a strategic choice, requiring a balancing of risks and

intoxicated. He told his attorney before trial that another man named "Jason" had given him a ride home from a bar, but that "Jason" "jumped out of the car" when he saw a police officer waiting at Krancki's residence. *Id.* 2014 WI App. 80 at ¶ 7. During his opening statement, Krancki's attorney told that jury that Krancki would testify and tell the jury that it was "Jason," not he, who had driven the car. *Id.* at ¶ 8. The Court of Appeals found that trial counsel was not ineffective in telling the jury that Krancki would testify because, although Krancki had initially "insisted" upon testifying, he then changed his mind and decided to not testify. *Id.* The court held that Krancki's attorney could not be faulted because he was "largely following Krancki's directives." *Id.* at ¶ 10.

⁵ The defendant in *Krancki* was charged with operating a vehicle while

benefits. Under ordinary circumstances, that is true. It is easy to imagine that, on the eve of trial, a thoughtful lawyer may remain unsure as to whether to call the defendant as a witness. If such uncertainty exists, however, it is an abecedarian principle that the lawyer must exercise some degree of circumspection. Had the petitioner's counsel temporized—he was under no obligation to make an opening statement at all, much less to open before the prosecution presented its case, and, even if he chose to open, he most assuredly did not have to commit to calling his client as a witness—this would be a different case.

Ouber, 293 F.3d at 23.

In Beal's case, counsel had no reason to promise that Beal would testify. During trial, counsel told the court that he did not file a witness list because "it was only my intent to *possibly* have Mr. Beal testify." (36:103) (emphasis added). Reasonable counsel would not tender such promises to the jury if there was only a possibility that Beal would testify.

But even more reason was provided in Beal's postconviction motion, which proffered the additional information that counsel expected that Beal would *not* testify. Judge Grady denied the postconviction motion without conducting an evidentiary hearing. (27). However, in the postconviction motion, Beal stated:

Trial counsel told undersigned counsel that he did not remember that he had made an unequivocal promise to the jury. Indeed, trial counsel said that he never intended on having Mr. Beal testify. Trial counsel concluded well before trial that Mr. Beal would make a poor witness, because Mr. Beal insisted on testifying about irrelevant and odd details.

(23:5).

Since Judge Grady denied the postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing, Beal did not have an opportunity to elicit trial counsel's testimony on this issue, but the motion's offer of proof is significant. Obviously, if counsel knew that Beal was not going to testify, as indicated by the above statement, then there can be no possible valid strategic reason for telling the jury that Beal would testify as to his account of what happened. Or, if counsel believed that Beal made a poor witness, this is something that the trial attorney should have known well before trial, and should have alerted him to not promise the jury that he would testify. *Cf. Hampton*, 347 F.3d at 258 (counsel should have known before trial that Hampton would make a "weak witness," and therefore telling the jury that he would testify constituted deficient performance).

Accordingly, trial counsel's performance was deficient in promising the jury that Beal would testify.

C. Beal was prejudiced by his attorney's deficient performance.

The circuit court ruled that even if counsel's performance was deficient, Beal was not prejudiced. (27:4). The court wrote in its decision:

The court finds the defendant's case was not prejudiced. Because the defendant does not claim he would have testified to a, b, c, and d, he cannot show that there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been any different because he is not claiming that his own testimony would have made a difference. As the State points out, the jurors were told that the defendant had an absolute right not to testify, and counsel offered an explanation as to why he did not testify. It is speculative at best to surmise what, if any,

weight the jurors placed on the fact that he did not testify, but that can happen in any trial. In this respect, the claim is conclusory. It simply cannot be shown that there would have been a reasonable probability of a different result had counsel not told the jurors they would hear the defendant's version. The jurors were required to base their findings on the evidence presented, were instructed to do so, and were presumed to have done so. The evidence pertaining to the battery was presented by the State's witnesses, and the jury heard about the victim's swollen eyes, the blood on her face and clothing, the metal in her head, the puncture wounds to the back of her head, and the fact that defendant did this to her. Consequently, even if counsel's "promise to the jurors constituted deficient performance, the defendant's case was not prejudiced.

(27:3-4).

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