RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

10-14-2014

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP1362-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN BEAL,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, MARY TRIGGIANO AND LINDSEY GRADY, JUDGES

BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1523 (Phone) (608) 266-9594 (Fax) balistreritj@doj.state.wi.us

ARGUMENT

Beal failed to show that his attorney was ineffective for not calling him as a witness after telling the jury that he would testify.

A criminal defendant who claims his attorney was ineffective has a dual burden to prove both that his attorney's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. *State v. Allen,* 2004 WI 106, ¶ 26, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433; *State v. Thiel,* 2003 WI 111, ¶ 18, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305; *State v. Smith,* 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997).

A claim of ineffective assistance fails if the defendant fails to prove either one of these requirements. *State v. Williams*, 2006 WI App 212, ¶ 18, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 723 N.W.2d 719; *State v. Taylor*, 2004 WI App 81, ¶ 14, 272 Wis. 2d 642, 679 N.W.2d 893. So claims of ineffective assistance may be disposed of without considering whether counsel performed deficiently when the defendant fails to prove prejudice. *State v. Roberson*, 2006 WI 80, ¶ 28, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 717 N.W.2d 111; *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 128, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990).

To prove that his attorney's performance was deficient, it is not enough for a defendant to establish merely that his attorney was not very good. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 19. Instead, the defendant must overcome a strong presumption that counsel acted reasonably, and establish that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 60, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115; *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 19; *State v. Johnson*, 133 Wis. 2d 207, 217, 395 N.W.2d 176 (1986).

The reasonableness of an attorney's acts is judged deferentially on the facts of the particular case viewed from counsel's contemporary perspective to eliminate the distortion of hindsight. *State v. Maloney*, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 25, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583; *Johnson*, 133 Wis. 2d at 217.

Deficient performance is prejudicial when it is so reasonably probable that the result of the proceeding would have been different without the error that a court cannot have confidence in the reliability of the existing outcome. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 26; *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 20.

It is not enough for a defendant to speculate on what the result of the proceeding might have been if his attorney had not erred. *State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 774, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999); *State v. Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 48, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994); *State v. Wirts*, 176 Wis. 2d 174, 187, 500 N.W.2d 317 (Ct. App. 1993). The defendant must show actual prejudice. *State v. Keeran*, 2004 WI App 4, ¶ 19, 268 Wis. 2d 761, 674 N.W.2d 570; *Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d at 773; *Wirts*, 176 Wis. 2d at 187.

When the defendant alleges that his attorney was ineffective for failing to take some action, he must show with specificity what that action would have accomplished if it had been taken, and how its accomplishment would have probably altered the result of the proceeding. *State v. Byrge*, 225 Wis. 2d 702, 724, 594 N.W.2d 388 (Ct. App. 1999), *aff'd*, 2000 WI 101, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477; *Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d at 48.

On review, the appellate court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 23. Whether counsel's performance was deficient and/or prejudicial to the defense are questions of law

which are determined independently. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 23.

A. Beal failed to allege facts sufficient to show that his attorney performed deficiently by telling the jury that Beal would testify.

An evidentiary hearing must be held only if a defendant's postconviction motion alleges facts which, if true, would entitle him to relief. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶¶ 9, 12.

In his motion for postconviction relief, the defendant-appellant, John Beal, failed to allege facts sufficient to show that his attorney performed deficiently by telling the jury in his opening statement that Beal would testify, even though Beal ultimately did not testify.

An attorney does not perform deficiently by telling the jury that his client is going to testify when, at the time, the defendant has told counsel that he wants to testify, a decision that is ultimately for the defendant to make. *State v. Krancki*, 2014 WI App 80, ¶¶ 10-11, 355 Wis. 2d 503, 851 N.W.2d 824. Beal concedes as much in his brief. Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 9, 12.

So to make a showing of deficient performance, Beal would have had to negate this possibility that his attorney performed reasonably by relying on his decision to testify by alleging that he never told his attorney that he wanted to testify. But there is no such allegation in Beal's postconviction motion.

Beal's postconviction attorney asserted in his argument that Beal's trial counsel told him "that he never intended on having Mr. Beal testify. Trial counsel concluded well before trial that Mr. Beal would make a poor witness, because Mr. Beal insisted on testifying about irrelevant and odd details" (23:5, A-Ap:B).

But assertions of attorneys are not evidence. *State v. Jeannie M.P.*, 2005 WI App 183, ¶ 15 n.4, 286 Wis. 2d 721, 703 N.W.2d 694; *State v. Eugenio*, 210 Wis. 2d 347, 358, 565 N.W.2d 798 (Ct. App. 1997), *aff'd*, 219 Wis. 2d 391, 579 N.W.2d 642 (1998). And this assertion by postconviction counsel is contrary to trial counsel's own statement on the record that "it was [his] intent to possibly have Mr. Beal testify" (36:103).¹

Besides, regardless of what counsel actually intended, his intent was irrelevant because he could not waive Beal's right to testify if Beal told his attorney that he wanted to testify. *Krancki*, 355 Wis. 2d 503, ¶¶ 10-11. *See State v. Albright*, 96 Wis. 2d 122, 130-33, 291 N.W.2d 487 (1980) (counsel cannot waive defendant's right to testify if defendant expressly refuses to waive it). So the assertion about counsel's supposed intent not to have Beal testify cannot substitute for an absent allegation that Beal did not tell his attorney that he wanted to testify.

Thus, at the very least the motion would not foreclose the possibility that Beal told his attorney he wanted to testify so that counsel would not have performed deficiently by telling the jury that Beal would testify.

But the motion asserts that Beal's attorney said "Beal insisted on testifying" (23:5, A-Ap:B), which indicates that Beal in fact told his attorney that he wanted to testify.

¹ Beal bases his statement of the issue presented on this disputed assertion of fact. Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 1.

The record suggests that Beal may have changed his mind about wanting to testify after the state rested its case during the trial. In explaining to the court why Beal chose not to testify, his attorney stated that he and Beal "talked about, again, strategy-wise what advantages and disadvantages testifying or standing silent, and at this point his election is to stand silent" (36:99-100). The statement that Beal's election "at this point" was to stand silent suggests that this election may have been different from his election at a previous time.

Finally, Beal's motion has to be considered in the context of common sense. It seems so obvious that counsel would have had no reason to tell the jury repeatedly and in such detail that Beal would testify unless Beal told his attorney that he wanted to testify. It would have been, not just unreasonable, but utterly incomprehensible for counsel to go to such lengths to tell the jury that Beal would testify if Beal had never said he wanted to testify and counsel had no intention of having Beal testify.

Thus, Beal's postconviction motion does not just fail to show he would be entitled to relief but, if anything, tends to show he is actually not entitled to relief because his attorney acted reasonably when he told the jury that Beal was going to testify.

Because Beal failed to allege facts showing that his attorney performed deficiently, the circuit court could properly deny his postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel without a hearing.

B. The record conclusively shows that Beal was not prejudiced by his decision not to testify after his attorney said he would.

A defendant is not entitled to a hearing when the record conclusively shows he is not entitled to relief. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶¶ 16, 30.

Here, the record conclusively shows that under the unique combination of facts of this case, which differ significantly from those in any of the cases relied on by Beal, Beal was not prejudiced by his decision not to testify after his attorney told the jury that he would.

Here, the jury was expressly instructed that a defendant in a criminal case has an absolute constitutional right not to testify, and that the "defendant's decision not to testify must not be considered by you in any way and must not influence your verdict in any manner" (37:12).

It is presumed that juries follow admonitory instructions. *State v. Marinez*, 2011 WI 12, ¶ 41, 331 Wis. 2d 568, 797 N.W.2d 399; *State v. Searcy*, 2006 WI App 8, ¶ 59, 288 Wis. 2d 804, 709 N.W.2d 497; *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 644 n.8, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985). Such instructions are presumed to erase any prejudice unless the record suggests that the jury disregarded the admonition. *State v. Sigarroa*, 2004 WI App 16, ¶ 24, 269 Wis. 2d 234, 674 N.W.2d 894; *State v. Bembenek*, 111 Wis. 2d 617, 634, 331 N.W.2d 616 (Ct. App. 1983).

There is no such suggestion in this record.

To begin with, the court's instruction was strongly reinforced by the prosecutor who told the jury in his closing argument, "You cannot use the defendant's decision [not to testify] as evidence of guilt. That would be completely inappropriate" (37:36).

If even the attorney who wanted the jury to find Beal guilty agreed that they could not appropriately find him guilty because he did not testify, it seems highly likely that the jury got the message that it would be completely inappropriate for them to let Beal's failure to testify influence their verdict in any way.

Indeed, the jury affirmatively indicated that they could and would decide the case in accord with an instruction not to be influenced by Beal's decision not to testify.

On voir dire, Beal's attorney told the prospective jurors that Beal may or may not testify during the trial (34:10). Counsel subsequently asked if there was "anyone who if Mr. Beal elects not to testify would assume that is some indication or inference that he's done something wrong or that he's guilty of something" (34:44)? No one indicated that they would hold it against Beal if they anticipated he would testify and he did not (37:20).

Moreover, there were good reasons for the jury not to hold Beal's election not to testify against him.

When Beal decided he was not going to testify after all about all those irrelevant and odd details he once insisted on testifying about (23:5, A-Ap:B; 36:100), his attorney gave the jury a plausible explanation for his decision not to take the stand. Counsel explained that when the state finished its case, the defense concluded that the state had not met its burden of proof (37:21). Thus, there was nothing Beal needed to say to rebut the state's case because the state had not proved its case (37:21).

Beal has a dozen bullet paragraphs in his brief litanizing the ways in which the state's case was deficient. Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 19-21.²

Perhaps the most important deficiency for the purpose of assessing prejudice because of the failure to have Beal testify is that the state also failed to present witnesses. The victim testified that two people who came out of a barber shop saw Beal beating her up (36:28-29). Yet the state failed to call either of these people who might have been able to corroborate the victim's version of events, resting its evidence about what Beal did on the victim's testimony alone.

It is not likely that the jury would consider Beal's failure to testify as an indication that the victim's testimony was true anymore than they would consider the state's failure to have eyewitnesses testify as an indication that the victim's testimony was false.

Furthermore, Beal's attorney did not just tell the jury that Beal would testify, but told them what that testimony would be (35:15-17, A-Ap:D). Counsel told the jury that Beal's version of what happened was that his girlfriend pulled out a knife when she got mad at him, that they struggled over the knife, and that his girlfriend got cut and bruised during the struggle (35:15-17, A-Ap:D).

Although the jury was instructed that the arguments of counsel were not evidence (37:12), the jury nevertheless was made aware that Beal disagreed with his girlfriend's claim that

² This does not mean that the evidence was insufficient to convict Beal. Although there were problems with the victim's credibility, her testimony was not incredible as a matter of law, and the jury could convict Beal beyond a reasonable doubt if they believed her.

he attacked her, and could have considered that Beal had a different version of events in determining whether to believe the victim.

So there is no reason to believe that the jury failed to follow the instruction not to hold Beal's failure to testify against him, and every reason to believe that they did. Because the jury presumptively followed this admonitory instruction, the result of Beal's trial would have been no different if his attorney had not told the jury that he would testify.

Therefore, the record conclusively shows that Beal was not prejudiced by his failure to testify when his attorney said he would.

CONCLUSION

It is therefore respectfully submitted that the judgment convicting Beal of aggravated battery while using a dangerous weapon, and the order denying Beal's motion for postconviction relief, should be affirmed.